2005

Wasatch Property Management and JDJ Properties, INC v. Aris Vision Institute, INC : Brief of Petitioner

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann., §78-2-2(3) and (5) and Rule 45 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE FOR REVIEW

1. The issue presented for review is whether the court of appeals erred in affirming an award of treble damages for loss, damage and depreciation to personal property under Utah's forcible detainer statute, Utah Code Ann., §78-36-10(3). The court of appeals' decision on the law is reviewed for correctness. *Aurora Credit Servs., Inc. v. Liberty W. Dev., Inc.*, 970 P.2d 1273, 1277 (Utah 1998).

This issue was preserved below. [See, e.g., R. 103-112; 169-176; 217-226; 230-231; 346-356; 529 at 558-579; 304-307 and the court of appeals' decision, *Aris Vision Institute, Inc. v. Wasatch Prop. Management, Inc.*, 2005 UT App. 326, ¶¶31-33.]

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW.

Aris leased premises from JDJ in Salt Lake County for the operation of a laser eye surgery clinic (the "Premises"). Wasatch managed the Premises for JDJ. Aris ceased all

business operations and vacated the Premises on January 4, 2002 without paying rent. Without JDJ's knowledge or consent, Aris turned over possession of the Premises to the independent contractor doctors who performed surgeries at the Premises to conduct their own business on the Premises while Aris and the doctors attempted to negotiate an agreement for the doctors to purchase Aris's equipment and other personal property (collectively, the "Personal Property") on the Premises and assume Aris's Lease with JDJ.

When Aris and the doctors had been unable to come to an agreement, Aris sent a representative to the Premises on January 22, 2002 to remove the Personal Property that the doctors were then utilizing in their business. When Aris was not permitted to remove the Personal Property, Aris filed (but did not serve) a Complaint in this action alleging forcible detainer, wrongful eviction and conversion of its Personal Property, as well as a claim for declaratory relief. Aris sought damages for not being permitted to remove its Personal Property. Aris also sought replevin of its Personal Property. [R. 1-26]

On or about February 15, 2002, Aris filed and served an Amended Complaint [R. 27-48] and a motion for a writ of replevin and supporting memorandum and affidavits. [R. 49-86] The hearing on the replevin motion was later postponed and then cancelled and the parties worked together for several months to attempt to re-let the Premises and sell the Personal Property. When these efforts were unsuccessful, Wasatch and JDJ permitted Aris to remove the Personal Property from the Premises on July 2, 2002. On

October 28, 2002, JDJ filed a Counterclaim seeking lost rental damages for Aris's breach of the Lease. [R. 103-112]

A bench trial was held before the Honorable Leslie A. Lewis on October 14 through 16, 2003. [R. 526-528] Thereafter, closing arguments were heard by Judge Lewis on November 14, 2003. [R. 529]

On January 27, 2004, Judge Lewis entered a Memorandum Decision finding in favor of Aris on the Complaint and dismissing JDJ's Counterclaim. Judge Lewis allowed Aris recovery on its forcible detainer, wrongful eviction and conversion claims in the amount of \$187,687.60 for depreciation and damage to the Personal Property, and for the value of missing equipment. Judge Lewis then trebled those damages, relying on Utah Code Ann., §78-36-10(3). Judge Lewis also awarded Aris its attorney's fees under the Lease. Judge Lewis refused to award punitive damages, ruling that the actions of Wasatch and JDJ did not amount to a knowing and reckless indifference or disregard of Aris's rights. [R. 369-375]

Judge Lewis entered judgment in favor of Aris on March 12, 2004. [R. 474] Wasatch and JDJ filed a Notice of Appeal from that judgment on March 22, 2004. [R. 477]

On July 21, 2005, the Utah Court of Appeals issued its Opinion affirming the Judgment. The Honorable Gregory K. Orme dissented on the issues of the award of treble damages and the award of depreciation damages. [*See App. A*]

On November 3, 2005, this Court granted the Petition for Writ of Certiorari with respect to the issue of whether treble damages were properly awarded for damages to personal property. [App. B]

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

In accordance with Wasatch's and JDJ's obligation to marshal the evidence, the following facts are set forth in a light most favorable to Aris and are based almost wholly upon the testimony of Aris's own witnesses:

1. Aris is a California company that owned and operated a laser eye surgery center (the "Center") located in Suites 100 and 120 of the Woodlands Business Park Tower I in Murray, Utah (the "Premises"), that Aris leased from JDJ. [R. 409-410, Findings Nos. 1 & 6] The term of the Lease ran through July 31, 2006. [R. 528 at 381-382; Pl's Exs. 9 & 11]
2. Wasatch was a sister company of JDJ, and managed the Woodlands Towers building as JDJ's agent. [R. 410, Finding No. 8]
3. Aris employed David Skalka ("Skalka") as the manager of the Center and contracted with four physicians (the "Doctors") on an independent contractor basis to perform eye surgeries at the Center. [R. 409, Finding No. 2]
4. Aris owned all the equipment and furniture (collectively the "Personal Property") located at the Center. [R. 527 at 234]

Aris Vacated the Premises

5. According to the evidence presented by Aris, the laser eye surgery market collapsed and on January 3, 2002 Aris decided to close all of its centers the next day, January 4, 2002, and file bankruptcy. All Aris employees, including Skalka, were terminated on January 4, 2002 and Aris ceased doing business in Utah on that date. [R. 526 at 38-39; R. 527 at 234-235 & 263-264]

6. Aris presented the testimony of its employees that over the weekend after January 4, 2002, Aris decided not to file bankruptcy. By January 7, 2002, Aris had decided to allow the independent contractor Doctors to operate their own business on the Premises while Aris attempted to come to terms with the Doctors on the purchase of the Personal Property and assumption of the Lease. On or about January 7, Aris initiated negotiation with the Doctors and agreed that they could use the Personal Property and Premises while they negotiated. [R. 527 at 235-237]

7. Aris did not notify Wasatch or JDJ in advance that it was terminating its business or that it was turning over the Premises to the Doctors. [R. 212, ¶18]

8. Aris did not pay its January rent in the amount of \$9,556.38 by January 1, 2002 when it was due pursuant to the Lease. [R. 526 at 9-10] When Aris failed to pay rent, Wasatch sent out two notices that the rent was past due. Aris did not respond to the notices. [R. 528 at 384; Pl's Ex. 1, ¶16]

The Personal Property

9. Sometime after Aris terminated its operations, Wasatch's property manager, Dennis Peacock ("Peacock"), asked Skalka what was going on, Aris had not made the January rent payment. Skalka told him that he had been terminated by Aris and of Aris's financial trouble and provided copies of the notices he had received from Aris, which indicated that Aris had terminated Skalka's employment, was ceasing all operations and would likely file for bankruptcy protection. Peacock responded to Skalka that Aris's Personal Property could not be removed from the Premises until Wasatch "found out what was going on with Aris." [R. 527 at 299-301; R. 411, Finding Nos. 15-18]

10. Paragraph 20.1 of the Lease provided in part:

All moveable personal property of Tenant not removed from the premises upon the abandonment thereof (as defined at Title 78, Chapter 36 of the Utah Code Ann. or similar replacement provisions) or upon the termination of this Lease for any cause whatsoever shall conclusively be deemed to have been abandoned and may be appropriated, sold, stored, destroyed or otherwise disposed of by Landlord without notice to Tenant or any other person and without any obligation to account therefore.

11. When the negotiations between Aris and Skalka and the Doctors proved unsuccessful, Aris directed that Richard Enright ("Enright"), its Director of Operations, come to Utah to determine if Skalka and the Doctors had any interest in purchasing the Personal Property and, if not, to remove the Personal Property. [R. 526 at 36 & 39] Enright came to Utah without prior notice on January 22, 2002. [*Id.* at 39 & 89]

12. When Enright arrived at the Premises, he walked through the space with Skalka. [*Id.* at 41-42] There were certain rooms Skalka would not let him enter. [*Id.* at 83] The Doctors were preparing for surgeries that day. It was business as usual. Enright did not have a key to the Premises. Enright asked to do an inventory. Skalka said it would be pointless to do an inventory because Wasatch had seized the assets. Skalka did not give Enright permission to take the Personal Property, but told him he would have to speak with Peacock, Wasatch's property manager at the building. [*Id.* at 41-42]

13. Skalka took Enright downstairs to meet Peacock, introduced him to Peacock as Richard Enright from Aris Vision and told Peacock that Enright was there to remove the Personal Property. Peacock said that the Personal Property could not be removed because Aris had abandoned the Premises and had defaulted under the Lease by failing to pay the January rent and that as a result, Wasatch had seized the Personal Property. [R. 526 at 41-43; R. 413, Finding No. 26]

14. Enright tendered a check for the rent, but Peacock refused to accept it. Peacock stated that it was too late, that Aris had abandoned the premises and that Wasatch was not taking Aris's money. Enright denied there had been an abandonment. [*Id.* at 44-45; R. 415, Finding No. 27]

15. Enright called Kathleen Soto ("Soto"), Aris's CFO, and told her what had occurred. Soto then spoke with Skalka and Peacock. Peacock told Soto that Aris had abandoned the Premises and had defaulted under the Lease by failing to pay its January

rent. Peacock told Soto that Wasatch was therefore entitled to seize Aris's Personal Property under paragraph 20.1 of the Lease. [R. 413, Finding Nos. 28 & 29] Soto testified that she responded that Aris was pursuing its right under paragraph 20.1 of the Lease to remove its Personal Property *before surrendering the Premises*. [R. 413, Finding No. 30] Soto offered to pay the January rent immediately by wire transfer, but Peacock indicated it was too late and the payment would not be accepted. [*Id.*, Finding No. 31]

16. Peacock told Enright that he needed to leave the Premises and threatened to have the police remove Enright if he did not leave. [R. 526 at 44-45] Enright testified that he and Peacock did not have a confrontation on January 22, but "basically a discussion". [R. 526 at 76-77] Enright left the Premises without removing any Personal Property. [R. 414, Finding No. 35]

17. Aris did not have any keys to the Premises which were occupied by the Doctors. During his visit, Enright requested a key from Skalka and then requested a key from Peacock. They both refused to give Enright a key. [*Id.* at 47]

18. Aris then retained Erik Olson ("Olson") with the law firm of Durham, Jones & Pinegar, who filed (but did not serve) a Complaint on behalf of Aris on January 23, 2002, seeking replevin of the Personal Property and damages for the refusal to give Aris the Personal Property. [R. 414, Finding No. 37]

19. On January 24, 2002, Olson talked with John A. Dahlstrom, Jr. ("Dahlstrom"), the Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Wasatch. Olson told Dahlstrom

that Aris wanted to remove the Personal Property and wanted access to the Premises to do so. Dahlstrom responded, “let’s see if we can work out a deal”. Olsen testified that Dahlstrom was extremely professional. Dahlstrom proposed that Aris consider a “business solution” under which Aris would sell its Personal Property to Skalka and the Doctors and they would assume the Lease. Aris agreed to pursue such an arrangement. [R. 526 at 153-155; R. 528 at 441-442; R. 415, Finding No. 40] Aris recognized that it was on the hook for some sort of ongoing monthly rent obligation. [R. 526 at 154-156]

20. Olson acknowledged that between January 24 and February 15, 2002, the parties were mutually cooperating in an effort to move Skalka and the Doctors into the Premises. [R. 527 at 219-220]

21. The Doctors moved out of the Premises on February 9, 2002 and moved into a smaller space in the Building. Wasatch did not supervise the move or retrieve the keys to the Premises. [R. 527 at 249-251 & Pl’s Ex. 12; R. 416, Finding No. 46] Aris and the Doctors did not work out an arrangement for the Doctors to purchase the Personal Property. Soto never asked Skalka to remove the Personal Property after Enright left on January 22. [R. 527 at 330]

22. When the Doctors vacated the Premises, Peacock changed the locks in part to safeguard the Personal Property so that Skalka and the Doctors who had previous keys would no longer be able to have access to the Premises. Aris and Olson did not ask for a

key and Peacock did not give Aris or Olson a key. [R. 527 at 189; 338 & 345] Wasatch did not advise Aris that the locks had been changed. [Finding No. 47 at R. 488]

23. When Olson heard nothing further from Dahlstrom by mid-February (this was during the Olympics), Olson filed and served an Amended Complaint and also a motion for a writ of replevin for possession of the Personal Property. [R. 526 at 157-159; Pl's Exs. 1 & 2]

24. Olson discussed the motion for writ of replevin with Dahlstrom a few times. Dahlstrom said that Wasatch would fight the motion and that Aris could not win, but even if it did, Aris would have to post an undertaking in the amount of hundreds of thousands of dollars. Dahlstrom said that Olson could not expect Wasatch to let all security just walk out the door leaving Wasatch holding the bag. [R. 526 at 160-161]

25. The writ of replevin hearing was originally scheduled for February 26, 2002. At Dahlstrom's request, the hearing was rescheduled for March 5, 2002. [R. 526 at 161-162]

26. Olson then cancelled the March 5 hearing. Olson testified he did so based upon Dahlstrom's statements that he would oppose the motion and there would be a large undertaking, but there was no evidence he told Dahlstrom his reason. Aris left the Personal Property on the Premises. Olson and Dahlstrom agreed to work together to try to find a new tenant to reduce the damage claim against Aris. It was Olson's intent to try to reduce Aris's exposure and at the same time avoid the necessity for Aris to file a large

undertaking. Olson was aware that Aris had four and a half years remaining on a seven-year lease at approximately \$20 a square foot. [R. 527 at 199; R. 528 at 470-471]

27. The parties also agreed to put the litigation on hold while they worked together to find a new tenant. [R. 527 at 164-166; R. 528 at 470-471] In the seven months following February 15, Olson took no further action in court to prosecute the claims until after JDJ's Counterclaim was filed in October 2002. [R. 527 at 197]

28. After January 22, 2002, there was never any occasion when Aris was denied access to the Premises or attempted to remove any Personal Property from the Premises where Aris was restrained from doing so. [R. 526 at 13; R. 527 at 200-201] After March 5, 2002, Peacock opened the Premises on several occasions so that Aris could inventory the Personal Property and show the Premises to prospective tenants. [R. 526 at 12]

29. After March 5, Olson and Dahlstrom had subsequent conversations where they would catch up with each other about leads for replacement tenants. [R. 527 at 168]

30. Within a week or two after March 5, Olson told Dahlstrom that Aris wanted access to the Premises for the purpose of inventorying the Personal Property to make sure that nothing was damaged or missing. Dahlstrom agreed and had Olson make arrangements directly with Peacock. [R. 527 at 166-167] Dahlstrom told Peacock to let Aris in any time they asked and to be courteous and help in any way and cooperate. [R. 528 at 361-362]

31. One of the visits Olson arranged to the Premises was on April 29, 2002 for the purpose of showing Ed Barber the space. Mr. Barber was interested in perhaps leasing the space and perhaps purchasing some of the Personal Property. A week later Aris had another visit with Barber at the Premises. [R. 527 at 168-169; R. 526 at 54-55 & 57] Peacock was also present during, and supervised, these visits. [*Id.* at 58] On the April 25 visit, Enright requested that Aris be allowed to remove one item of equipment, a microkeratome, and Peacock agreed. [*Id.* at 62]

32. Olson understood that the Personal Property would have greater value in place if they could find a new tenant and that is why Aris was working with Barber in April and May to get him to not only buy the equipment, but to move into the Premises. [R. 527 at 223]

33. Sometime before May 20, 2002, Aris reached an agreement with Barber to purchase some of the equipment for \$35,000. [*Id.* at 171, 173 & 266]

34. Aris worked with Barber for quite a while on taking over the Premises, but was unsuccessful. [*Id.* at 171-172]

35. In late May or early June, 2002, Olson told Dahlstrom that Aris was not making much progress with getting Barber into the space. Olson turned Barber over to Dahlstrom and Wasatch in the hope that they could work something out with Barber to lease the Premises. [*Id.* at 172-173]

36. On June 4, 2002, Olson wrote a letter to Dahlstrom in which he stated:

As we have discussed over the phone on several occasions, it remains Aris's intention at the present time to postpone indefinitely the litigation of the lawsuit Aris has filed against Wasatch including the motion for writ of replevin in hopes that either Aris or Wasatch can work together in good faith to find a new tenant to occupy the premises. ***In the meantime, Aris will leave its valuable equipment in the space. Aris's efforts to find a tenant should not be construed in any way to negate Wasatch's duty, if any, to mitigate the damages.*** [*Id.* at 173 & Pl's Ex. 24]¹ [Emphasis added]

37. Olson and Enright went to the Premises with Barber on June 10, 2002 to close the equipment sale. Olson talked with Dahlstrom who said he did not have authorization for Aris to remove the equipment yet, but anticipated he could get it, but not in time to close the deal on that day. Olson then told Aris and Barber they were not able to proceed with the sale that day. [R. 527 at 175-177]

38. The next day Olson talked with Dahlstrom who said Wasatch would only agree to the transaction if the \$35,000 was paid to Wasatch. Olson said there was no way Aris would agree to that. Dahlstrom then said he would see if his client would be willing to take \$10,000. [*Id.* at 177-178]

39. Approximately ten days later when Olson had not heard from Dahlstrom, he told Dahlstrom that Aris was going to go forward with the lawsuit and proceed with the motion for writ of replevin to get possession of the Personal Property. Dahlstrom responded on approximately June 25 that Aris could go ahead and remove the Personal

¹ Olson testified that he included in his letter the language about the equipment staying on the Premises based upon the fact that the writ hearing had been cancelled so Aris was unable to remove the equipment and that he did not intend to waive any claims. [*Id.* at 173-174]

Property. [*Id.* at 178-179] Judge Lewis found that Dahlstrom's instructions were a change from Wasatch's previous instructions not to allow Aris to remove the Personal Property and that Wasatch refused to allow Aris to take the Personal Property as a "bargaining chip" in Wasatch's negotiations with Aris over the payment of rent. [R. 421, Finding No. 76; R. 424, Finding No. 89]

40. The equipment sale to Barber was consummated on July 2, 2002. He did not ask for a discount because of the delay. [*Id.* at 264 & 266-267]

41. On July 2, 2002, Aris removed all of the Personal Property from the Premises. [R. 527 at 240] Two of the lasers were inoperable. [*Id.* at 251-252]²

Aris's Claimed Damages

42. Soto testified that two of the lasers were damaged so when Aris settled with VISX the amount of the credit which VISX gave for those lasers was reduced by \$53,000 and Judge Lewis awarded this amount. [*Id.* at 252-253]³

43. There were missing items of equipment. [*Id.* at 243] Enright did not know who took the missing Personal Property or if Skalka or the Doctors took any of the equipment

² JDJ subsequently relet the Premises at a substantially reduced rent because of market conditions. The undisputed evidence was that JDJ lost \$174,561.17. [R. 528 at 395, 397-398, 515-516 and Ex. 65]

³ Soto speculated that the damage to the lasers had to occur sometime after February 9, 2002 when the Doctors vacated the Premises because the Doctors were performing surgeries using those lasers. [*Id.* at 251-252] Soto did not know whether any of the Aris employees who were fired or any of the Doctors damaged the lasers as they moved out. [*Id.* at 288] Skalka did not know one way or another whether any of the lasers were broken when the Doctors moved out of the Center. [*Id.* at 329]

when they moved out. [R. 526 at 108] Judge Lewis awarded Aris \$16,118.82 for the missing equipment. [R. 494, Finding No. 80]

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