2005

Wasatch Property Management, Inc., JDJ
Properties, Inc. v. Aris Vision Institute, Inc. a
California corporation, d/b/a ARIS VISION INC
: Writ of Certiorari

Utah Court of Appeals

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

D. There Is No Authority for Awarding Fair Rental Value to a Tenant in a Forcible Detainer Case.

Wasatch argues that damages for forcible detainer are those “relating to [Aris’s] inability to occupy the Premises.” Petitioners’ Brief at 17. By implication, Wasatch also argues that what Wasatch characterizes as “the *real estate* forcible detainer statute” or “Utah’s *real property* forcible detainer statute,” Petitioners’ Brief at 18, 19 (emphasis in original), somehow requires a court to exclude recovery of damage to Aris’s personal property resulting from the forcible detainer. The Court should reject Wasatch’s argument—backed by not a single Utah forcible detainer case—that damages for forcible detainer consist only of the fair rental value of the premises, rather than damage to personal property. There is no authority for this. Merely calling the forcible detainer statute a “real estate” or “real property” statute does not create a legal interpretive basis for excluding whole categories of damages that a tenant might suffer.

Wasatch appears to have adopted its misguided view from the dissenting opinion of Judge Orme, who relies exclusively on two unlawful detainer cases for the position that fair rental value of the premises is the measure of damages for forcible detainer. See 2005 UT App 326 at ¶ 37 (Orme, J., dissenting). (The majority opinion even seems confused by this, conceding that the fair rental value is the minimum of damages awardable for forcible detainer. See 2005 UT App 326 at ¶ 31 n.5.)

The first case relied on by Judge Orme regarding fair rental value (in paragraphs 36 and 37 of the opinion) is Forrester v. Cook, an unlawful detainer case in which this Court addressed whether a landlord’s right to recover rents under what is now subsection

2(d) of the statute (addressed in Point I(A), above) precludes an award of treble damages for the rental value of the premises during the unlawful detainer period. See 77 Utah 137, 155–57, 292 P. 206, 214 (1930).⁷ The Court held that “rents,” “which may not be trebled, are such as accrue before termination of the tenancy” and before commencement of the unlawful detainer period. Id. at 157, id. at 214. In contrast, the landlord’s “loss of the value of the use and occupation of the premises, or the rental value thereof” during the unlawful detainer constitutes damages to be trebled under the statute. Id. at 156, id. at 214.

This remedy of the fair rental value has no place in a forcible detainer action because a tenant is never entitled to collect rents *from the landlord*, but instead pays rent *to the landlord* to occupy the premises. A tenant can argue (as Aris did below) under Richard Barton Enterprises, Inc. v. Tsern, 928 P.2d 368, 374–78 (Utah 1998), that the forcible detainer results in abatement of rent, but there is no legal basis for awarding the rental value to the tenant. As noted above, Section 78-36-10(2) includes remedies for both landlords and tenants. The remedy of rent, under Subsection (2)(d), could only refer to a remedy available to a landlord, not to a tenant.

The second case relied on by Judge Orme that relates to fair rental value (at paragraph 37 of the opinion) does not change this. That case, Monroc, Inc. v. Sidwell, 770 P.2d 1022 (Utah Ct. App. 1989), was an unlawful detainer case in which the landlord was awarded \$300 as the “reasonable rental value” of the premises during the unlawful

⁷ Forrester was overruled on other, unrelated grounds by P.H. Inv. v. Oliver, 818 P.2d 1018, 1020 (Utah 1991)).

detainer. Id. at 1025–26. Again, neither Monroc nor Forrester was a forcible detainer case, and it makes no sense to apply the unlawful detainer damages theory of fair rental value in this forcible detainer action. The Court should reject the view that fair rental value is a remedy available to tenants in a forcible detainer case.

The key language in Forrester that Wasatch fails to address is that “[t]he plaintiff is entitled to recover such damages as are the natural and proximate consequences of the unlawful detainer.” See 77 Utah at 156, 292 P. at 214. That principle has never been overruled. This language is based on the general damages provision in the statute that applies to both forcible detainer and unlawful detainer actions—that the trial court “shall also assess the damages resulting to the plaintiff from . . . forcible or unlawful detainer.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-10(2)(b). The trial court and court of appeals properly applied this rule here, where the damage to Aris’s personal property was the natural and proximate consequence of the forcible detainer. This Court should affirm the award.

E. There Is No Authority for Wasatch’s Claim That Aris’s Damages Are “Consequential” and Not Awardable.

The Court should also reject Wasatch’s argument that Aris’s recovery constitutes “consequential” damages, and that consequential damages cannot be recovered unless general damages are awarded. See Petitioners’ Brief at 21. Not only is this argument not within the scope of the writ of certiorari, it was not argued before the trial court or the court of appeals. It is based on the fallacy that the “general” damages awarded for forcible detainer constitute “reasonable rental value of the Premises,” Petitioners’ Brief at 21, and that such “general” damages must first be awarded before any consequential

damages. To the contrary, the statute does not authorize an award to a tenant of rent or of damages equal to fair rental value. Since fair rental value is not awardable to tenants, *any* recovery in a forcible detainer case will constitute consequential damages under Wasatch's interpretation. The fact remains that the statute does not limit damages for harm to personal property.

The forcible detainer statute gives no protection to tenants at all if it cannot be used to punish landlords like Wasatch who lock out tenants without judicial process for the sole purpose of seizing the tenant's personal property to use as a bargaining chip to pay future rents. Since the damages awarded to Aris were "the natural and proximate consequences" of the forcible detainer, the trial court was within its discretion to award them, and the court of appeals correctly affirmed.

F. The Court Should Disregard the Case Law Cited by Wasatch.

Wasatch's three archaic cases from other jurisdictions, see Petitioners' Brief at 19 n.5, provide no guidance in this appeal. First, Arout v. Azar, 219 A.D. 260, 219 N.Y.S. 431 (Sup. Ct. App. Div. 1927), offers no support for Wasatch's position because the New York court held that the case did not involve a forcible detainer at all. See id. Instead, in that case "defendants were guilty of a trespass." Id. Moreover, that court offered no rationale for the statement quoted by Wasatch, so the reader is left to wonder whether the preclusion of such damages is based upon the statute itself or upon case law interpreting the statute or based upon nothing at all.

Second, Carman v. Scott, 137 N.W. 655 (Mich. 1912), like Arou, offered no rationale for its statement that certain damages were not recoverable under the forcible detainer statute then in effect.

Third, Shaw v. Hoffman, 1872 Mich. LEXIS 91 (1872), provides no helpful analysis of this issue. Shaw was the primary case relied upon by the Carman court in holding that damages to personal property were not recoverable under the forcible detainer statute. However, the court in Shaw offered no more analysis of this issue than any of the other two cases cited by Wasatch.

Given the complete absence of any analysis of the key issue in any of these cases, and the contrasting authority of this Court and the court of appeals, the Utah authority must prevail. The Court should affirm and uphold the trial court's award of damages for loss, damage and depreciation of Aris's personal property.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM BASED ON WASATCH'S FAILURE TO PRESERVE THE ISSUE OF TREBLING DAMAGES RESULTING FROM INJURY TO PERSONAL PROPERTY.

Notwithstanding the Court's writ of certiorari to the court of appeals, the issue of whether damage to Aris's personal property should be trebled is not properly before the Court because Wasatch failed to preserve it before the trial court. In fact, Wasatch failed even to preserve before the court of appeals the narrow issue now before this Court on certiorari. Rather, the issue now before this Court was raised for the very first time by Judge Orme in his dissenting opinion. See 2005 UT App 326 at ¶¶ 36–37 (Orme, J., dissenting). The lead opinion of the court of appeals only referenced this issue in a footnote at the end of its opinion as a response to the dissent. See id. at ¶ 31 n.5. Thus,

while the court of appeals affirmed the trial court on the merits, it was equally entitled to affirm the trial court's trebling of damages based on Wasatch's failure ever to preserve this issue. This Court may affirm the court of appeals on the same alternative basis.

A. Preservation Must Occur at the Trial Court.

An appellant cannot raise for the first time on appeal arguments that it never gave the trial court the opportunity to consider. See 438 Main Street v. Easy Heat, Inc., 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51, 99 P.3d 801 (citing Brookside Mobile Home Park, Ltd. v. Peebles, 2002 UT 48, ¶ 14, 48 P.3d 968). It is axiomatic that preservation occur before the trial court, and not at an intermediate appellate court. See id. (“In order to preserve and issue for appeal, the issue must be presented to *the trial court* in such a way that *the trial court* has an opportunity to rule on the issue.”) (quoting Brookside, 2002 UT 48 at ¶ 14) (emphasis supplied).⁸ “For a trial court to be afforded an opportunity to correct the error, ‘(1) the issue must be raised in a timely fashion[,], (2) the issue must be specifically raised[,], and (3) the challenging party must introduce supporting evidence or relevant legal authority.’” Id. (quoting Brookside, 2002 UT 48 at ¶ 14). As the court of appeals has observed, “[m]ere mention” of an issue in trial pleadings, without supporting evidence or

⁸ The instant case presents the unusual circumstance where the issue on which this Court grants certiorari was never preserved by the petitioner. A similar scenario arose in the recent case of B.A.M. Development, L.L.C. v. Salt Lake County, 2006 UT 2, ___ P.3d ___, where the respondent made a lack of preservation argument after issuance of a writ of certiorari, but the Court in its discretion determined to address the merits anyway. See id. at ¶ 24 (“While it may be possible to imagine circumstances under which we might reconsider a grant of certiorari on an issue we later conclude was not properly preserved, that is not the case here, and we take up the issue on its merits.”). Here, there is little reason for this Court to review an issue that, as discussed below, was never raised at the trial court but was raised for the first time in a dissenting opinion from a court of appeals judge.

legal authority, is insufficient. LeBaron & Assocs. v. Rebel Enters., 823 P.2d 479, 482–83 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

B. Wasatch Failed to Preserve at the Trial Court Whether Damages to Personal Property Are Recoverable Under Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-10.

At the trial court, Wasatch never even hinted that Aris could not recover under the forcible detainer statute for injury to its personal property. However, the trial court provided to the parties “an adequate opportunity to speak to all the issues” [R.529 at 569]—and thus preserve arguments—through trial briefs [R.189–208, 217–36], opening statements [R.526 at 18–35], both written and oral closing arguments [R.265–86, 287–311; 529:544–81], and then even written replies [R.346–68]. After all this, Wasatch hired new counsel and has attempted to raise new arguments on appeal, without setting forth any ground for reviewing unpreserved issues. See Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5)(B) (“The brief of the appellant shall contain . . . a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court.”).

Wasatch fails to concede this mistake. In the preservation section on page 2 of Wasatch’s brief, it cites voluminous pages of various trial briefs and transcripts that have absolutely nothing to do with the issue now before this Court:

1. R.103–12: This is Wasatch’s answer and counterclaim, which is silent on this issue.
2. R.169–76: This is Wasatch’s portion of the pretrial order, none of which addresses the issue raised by this appeal, but instead addresses other, unrelated defenses to the forcible detainer claim. [R.176–77.]

3. R.217–26: This is the fact section of Wasatch’s trial brief. The legal issue of trebling of damages cannot be preserved by merely alleging facts.

4. R.230–31: This is the section of Wasatch’s trial brief that relates to forcible detainer, not a single sentence of which suggests that trebling of damages to personal property is inappropriate.

5. R.346–56: This is Wasatch’s supplemental, post-closing-argument brief, which only addressed Wasatch’s view of the evidence, but still includes no argument nor authority regarding whether Aris’s damages could be trebled.

6. R.529 at 558–79: These are the transcript pages of closing argument, which is wholly devoid even of the word “trebling.”

7. R.304–07: This is the forcible detainer argument from Wasatch’s written closing argument brief, which raises other, unrelated defenses to trebling.

In sum, not one portion of the trial record cited by Wasatch—which included numerous pretrial and post-trial briefs—contains any argument or authority regarding whether damages to personal property can be awarded and trebled under the forcible detainer statute. As a result, the court of appeals was not obligated to address this issue on the merits, but was entitled to affirm the trial court on preservation grounds. While the court of appeals nevertheless affirmed on the merits, this Court is entitled to affirm—and should affirm—on the alternative basis of Wasatch’s failure to preserve the treble damages issue. See American Fork City v. Pena-Flores, 2002 UT 131, ¶ 7, 63 P.3d 675 (holding that this Court “‘may affirm the court of appeals’ decision on any ground supported in the record.’”) (quoting Collins v. Sandy City Bd. of Adjustment, 2002 UT

77, ¶ 11, 52 P.3d 1267); see also, e.g., State v. Stubbs, 2005 UT 65, ¶ 3, 123 P.3d 407 (affirming judgment on “alternate grounds” to those expressed by court of appeals); Anderson v. Wilshire Invs., L.L.C., 2005 UT 59, ¶ 6, 123 P.3d 393 (same).

C. Wasatch Failed to Raise Before the Court of Appeals Whether Damage to Personal Property Is Recoverable Under Section 78-36-10.

Not only did Wasatch fail to preserve before the trial court the issue now before this Court, but it also failed to raise the issue before the court of appeals. Indeed, Judge Orme in his dissenting opinion was the first in the course of this litigation to suggest that injury to personal property should not be compensated under the forcible detainer statute. See 2005 UT App 326 at ¶¶ 36–37 (Orme, J., dissenting). While the majority address this issue, it does so only as a counterargument to the dissent in a footnote at the end of the lead opinion. See id. at ¶ 31 n.5.

Wasatch nevertheless suggests in the preservation section of its brief that it preserved the issue (of awarding damages under the forcible detainer statute for harm to personal property) before the court of appeals, but Wasatch cites only the court of appeals opinion itself, see Petitioners’ Brief at 2, rather than Wasatch’s own briefs to the court of appeals, which were devoid of any meaningful discussion of this issue or relevant authority. Wasatch seems to suggest that the court of appeals satisfied Wasatch’s preservation burden for it, but Wasatch ignores that the preservation duty is met at the trial level—not on appeal. See Point II(A), above. Moreover, even if its burden to preserve could be met before the court of appeals, Wasatch still failed to meet this burden because its briefs and argument to the court of appeals lack any specific argument or

relevant legal authority. Again, this Court may affirm the court of appeals based on Wasatch's failure to preserve the limited issue now before this Court on certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, Respondent Aris Vision Institute, Inc., respectfully requests that this Court affirm the ruling of the court of appeals, which upheld the trebling of damages caused by Wasatch's forcible detainer. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-10(3) and the lease between the parties, Aris respectfully requests an award of the attorney fees and costs that Aris has incurred in connection with Wasatch's appeals, and such additional and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.